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A NOTE TO READERS
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Eighteenth-century written English is notoriously cluttered with confounding punctuation, capitalized nouns erupting in the middle of sentences, and multiple spellings of the same word, all of which did not become standardized until comparatively recently.

Throughout the following text we have endeavored to present to readers the voluminous writings of our characters precisely as they themselves put those words to paper.



PROLOGUE
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His troops had never seen George Washington so angry. His Excellency, as most of them called him, had always been the most composed soldier on the battlefield. But on this sweltering late June morning in 1778 the commander in chief of the Continental Army could not mask his fury.

He reined in his great white charger and trembled with rage. Rising in his stirrups, he towered over his second in command Gen. Charles Lee, the man he had charged with leading the attack. “What is the meaning of this, sir? I demand to know the meaning of this disorder and confusion!”

Nearly two years to the day since the signing of the Declaration of Independence, the fate of the American cause lay uncertain, all because the officer cowering before Washington had panicked and ordered a premature retreat. In a sense Washington blamed himself. General Lee had not wanted the assignment in the first place. He should have followed his instincts and left the Marquis de Lafayette in command. Lafayette had been by his side at Valley Forge, had witnessed and absorbed the esprit of the troops who had survived the horrors of that deadly winter. Valley Forge had been the crucible they had all come through together, the very reason the forces of the nascent United States were now poised to alter the course of the revolution. And was that same army now about to be destroyed because of one man’s incompetence and lack of faith?

Charles Lee, dust-covered and dazed, gazed up at his superior. His eyes were dull, and his face wore the gray pallor of defeat. “Sir?” he stammered. “Sir?” The words were nearly unintelligible. He could find no others. Washington dismissed him and spurred his own horse forward.

As he’d approached the rolling green hills and swampy culverts surrounding the small New Jersey village of Monmouth Court House, an astonished Washington had demanded of each brigade and regimental commander he encountered to know why his unit was falling back. None could give a coherent answer, other than that Gen. Lee had ordered it. Now, as Washington galloped up and down the lines before his weary and bedraggled soldiery, the determination on his face was evident. Those who witnessed it would never forget it. “A gallant example animating his forces,” one veteran artillery officer later recalled.

Less than a mile to the east, 10,000 elite British troops had shed their packs, fixed bayonets, and were driving hard in counterattack. The British generals Henry Clinton and Charles Cornwallis could hardly believe their good fortune. After 12 months of a stalemated Philadelphia campaign, here was an opportunity to crush the colonial rebellion. If past was prologue, the mere sight of an endless wall of British “cold steel” would send the Continental rabble fleeing in disarray. A glorious rout would restore the transatlantic equilibrium. King George III would be ecstatic.

Washington knew otherwise. The hellish winter at Valley Forge had taught him so. He and his army had not endured the mud and blood of that winter encampment only to be turned back now. Half hidden in the smoke and cinders of battle, he ascended a rise and gathered about him the remnants of his exhausted army. It was the critical juncture of the war, and the tall Virginian exuded a sense of urgency and inspiration. Thirsty men who had wilted in the hundred-degree heat rose to their feet in anticipation.

“Will you fight?” Washington cried. “Will you fight?” The survivors of Valley Forge responded with three thunderous cheers that reverberated across the ridgeline. Lafayette, riding with Alexander Hamilton beside the commander in chief, was overwhelmed. “His presence,” the young Frenchman wrote, “seemed to arrest fate with a single glance.”

The skies darkened with cannon shot just as Washington raised his sword and pointed it toward the approaching sea of red. He was about to spur his horse again when Hamilton jumped from his own steed and shouted, “We are betrayed, and the moment has arrived when every true friend of America and her cause must be ready to die in their defense!”

Washington, his aristocratic reserve regained, replied in a calm voice. “Colonel Hamilton,” he said, “get back on your horse.”
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PART I

The Enemy were routed in the greatest Confusion several Miles, we pass’d thro their Encampments & took some pieces of Cannon, in short we were flatter’d with every appearance of a most glorious & decisive Action when to my great surprize Our Men began to give way, which when the Line was once broke became pretty General & could not with our utmost Exertions be prevented & the only thing left was to draw them off in the best manner we could.

—GEORGE WASHINGTON TO GEN. ISRAEL PUTNAM, OCTOBER 8, 1777
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George Washington’s experiences—both good and bad—as a young officer in the Virginia militia fighting alongside British forces in the French and Indian War served him well as commander of the American forces.





ONE
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A SPRIG OF GREEN

They marched in parade formation through the heart of Philadelphia, 12,000 strong. Down Front Street and up Chestnut Street they came, the heroes of Trenton and Princeton, the survivors of Long Island and Harlem Heights and White Plains, and they constituted a panoply foreshadowing the diversity that would define a future nation. The Grand Army, they were called: Irishmen, Germans, and Poles; French and disaffected Brits and Scots; a company of African American freemen, all now newly minted Americans. A “multiplicity of interests,” as James Madison would call them, forging a distinct national identity. Every man wore a sprig of greenery affixed to his hat or woven through his hair. It was a symbol of hope and victory.

At their head, astride his white Arabian standing 16 hands high, rode the 45-year-old George Washington, his russet hair liberally powdered to look like a wig, pulled back into a queue and held in place by a black silk ribbon. In his elegant blue-and-buff uniform, the strapping Washington was a majestic and commanding figure, graceful to the point where contemporaries commented on his fluid dancing skills. But mounted, with his polished silver spurs girding knee-high black riding boots, he projected the powerful impression of martial virility itself. Six feet two inches tall, he had strong, narrow shoulders set atop a broad chest that flared out to a lifelong horseman’s wide hips and muscled thighs. But it was his hands that caught one’s attention—large and sinewy planter’s hands strong enough to crack hickory nuts.

Washington was the centripetal force to which the soldiers parading through Philadelphia had each been drawn. Despite his imposing carriage, however, it was the general’s melancholy blue eyes with their flecks of gray that hinted at the merest trace of self-doubt. Those eyes, set deep in his craggy, sunburned face, flashed the tale of a man who, to paraphrase one historian, had constructed his own fierce stoicism to mask his combustible emotions and insecurities.

The 19-year-old Marquis de Lafayette was given the honor of riding beside Washington. He was famously soigné in his signature blue cocked hat and matching greatcoat with red facing, and his gold-braided epaulets bounced to the rise and fall of his cantering sorrel over the river cobblestones. Hard on the duo’s heels in their own long officers’ coats, boots shined to a luster and spurs jangling, came the indispensable polymath Alexander Hamilton—who at 22 had already proved his mettle on battlefields from White Plains to Princeton—and the leonine John Laurens, also 22, the son of the South Carolina delegate Henry Laurens, soon to succeed John Hancock as president of the Continental Congress. These three adoring aides constituted what the childless Washington deemed a veritable troika of surrogate sons. They each returned his affection.

It was a feverish Sunday, August 24, 1777, almost 26 months since Washington had been culled from the Virginia delegation to the First Continental Congress and commissioned general and commander in chief of the army of the united colonies: a wealthy southern plantation owner tabbed to lead a revolution. Now, this morning, the flood tide of troops stepping smartly through Philadelphia’s city center to the beat of fife and drum had been transformed from the “lower class” militiamen whom Washington once described as exhibiting “an unaccountable kind of stupidity” into a force for freedom. Most of the soldiers remained shabbily clad in motley vestments. Washington, never a man for spontaneity, had ordered the green sprigs in order to provide some uniformity to the Continentals’ discrepant apparel. Despite their dishabille, they nonetheless awed the 40,000 inhabitants of the new nation’s capital as they made for the floating bridge spanning the Schuylkill River that would carry them to their new camp across the water in Darby, Pennsylvania.

By 1777, Philadelphia stretched six blocks deep for two miles along the larger Delaware River, and for two solid hours the city’s residents gaped from windows, verandas, and rooftops or crowded out of doorways to line the muddy wooden curbs to view the passing troops. The spectators included members of the Continental Congress, whose delegates packed the redbrick bell tower of the statehouse Lafayette would one day dub Independence Hall. With each passing regiment rose a great huzzah for the men from Delaware and New Jersey and New York, from Connecticut and Massachusetts and New Hampshire, from Maryland and North Carolina and Virginia. The crowd saved their loudest cheers for their fellow Pennsylvanians and, of course, for the commander in chief himself.

Washington had ordered the army’s wagons and excess horses kept out of view during the promenade. The baggage train, which suggested the true nature of his ill-provisioned force, was to take a roundabout route to the new encampment. Given the hundreds of local soldiers under his command, Washington also warned of a punishment of 39 lashes to anyone who abandoned the parade route prematurely to visit with family and friends. Despite his efforts, he could not prevent the army’s camp followers, perhaps 400 women and children, from pouring into the city behind the troops, “chattering and yelling in sluttish shrills as they went, and spitting in the gutters” below the rented rooms on Market Street where Thomas Jefferson had written the Declaration of Independence.

Still, the procession went off almost precisely as Washington had choreographed it, a splendid demonstration designed to plant seeds of doubt in the minds of the city’s large Loyalist community. Although the commander in chief was not an overly religious man, even he may have felt the hand of divine intervention when the previous night’s downpour had ceased abruptly at dawn and left the city’s streets washed clean. Only his inner circle was aware that today’s spic-and-span pageantry was mostly a bluff. For the British were coming. Soon. With a battle-tested force far greater than the number of Continental Army regulars. And they intended to take this city.

♦  ♦  ♦

Since losing a series of battles and being driven from New York the previous summer, Washington and his closest advisers had been uncharacteristically flummoxed by General Sir William Howe, who led the 30,000-strong British expeditionary force in North America. Throughout the spring and summer of 1777, Howe had orchestrated a series of feints that forced Washington into exaggerated countermeasures. He had dispatched companies of his exhausted Continentals from their camp in Morristown, New Jersey, through rainstorms and searing heat as far north as the Hudson Highlands and as far south as the lower Delaware River. Each expedition was for naught, as Howe always pulled his troops back to New York before the Americans arrived. This was all a part of the British commander’s scheme; he was in no hurry to crush the rebels just yet. His superiors in Britain, particularly his friend King George III, hoped that the massive show of British force would bring the colonies to their senses and, subsequently, to the bargaining table.

In period paintings the 48-year-old Gen. Howe bore an eerie likeness to Washington, most notably in his erect bearing, high forehead, and aristocratic gaze, which was somewhat offset by a set of uneven and probably false teeth that struck observers as similar to the perforations on a stamp. Contemporary descriptions of the general were less kind than his portrait artists, with one young American who met him describing “a large portly man, of coarse features [who] appeared to have lost his teeth, as his mouth had fallen in.” At least his similarity to the denture-wearing American commander in chief rings true.

Howe and his older brother Adm. Lord Richard “Black Dick” Howe, commander of the British fleet in America, were scions of an aristocratic family that had attained its peerage a century earlier under the Dutch-born “King Billy” III. Both had attended Eton. The admiral’s taciturn demeanor and dusky complexion had earned him his nickname, and the general’s skin tone was also of a darker hue than that of most contemporary Englishmen. The younger Howe was fond of both gambling and whoring—he compensated his American mistress’s husband with a job as a prison commissioner. He had nonetheless earned his stars by showing valor on the front lines during the Seven Year’s War—what the American colonists called the French and Indian War—and, later, during his costly victory at Bunker Hill. His energy and courage continued to endear him to his troops, who were the most highly trained in North America. Yet close observers also noted that the general “lacked the confidence, the sense of responsibility, and the professional dedication that distinguished” his older brother the admiral.

After the British general John Burgoyne’s staggering recapture of upstate New York’s Fort Ticonderoga in early July, Washington was nearly certain that Howe would move north to join Burgoyne to control the Hudson River and effectively cut off the more rebellious New England colonies from the rest of the country.I Since then, however, the Continental spy network in New York had increasingly reported that the Howe brothers were secretly mustering pilots familiar with the Delaware River. If these communiqués proved true, common sense dictated only one target—the British were aiming for Philadelphia, the largest city in North America and home to the Continental Congress. The morale-breaking display of the American delegates fleeing before a conquering enemy army was what Washington had come to prevent.

♦  ♦  ♦

In late July Gen. Howe had teased Washington and his intelligence officers yet again when he loaded 17,000 of his British regulars and German mercenaries onto his brother’s fleet of 228 ships—the largest flotilla to ever ply American waters—and sailed from Sandy Hook, New Jersey.II Their destination was unclear. It was not lost on the Americans that Adm. Howe, so attuned to the world’s tides that he was known as “the human sea chantey,” had pioneered Britain’s naval expertise in amphibious landings, and rumors abounded. One report had the Howes tacking toward occupied Rhode Island in an attempt to retake Boston, the city they had been driven from 17 months earlier. Another had them sailing south to open up a new front below Virginia. General George Weedon, Washington’s fellow Virginian and longtime lieutenant, fretted that the Continentals were “in the dark with regard to [the enemy’s] designs.”

As a defense against the Royal Navy vessels advancing up the Delaware, Washington’s volunteer French military engineers had constructed a series of underwater obstructions known as chevaux-de-frise, or “Frisian Horses,” at various points along the river. These stockade-like rows of thick, iron-tipped wooden spears—employed during European wars since medieval times to impede cavalry charges—were weighted to the river bottom by heavy crates filled with rocks and designed to pierce the hulls of enemy craft. Washington did not have much faith in the contraptions. He wrote to a subordinate that “the idea of preventing ships from passing up & down rivers . . . has proved wrong . . . unless the water is narrow.” He was more confident in the string of riverside forts the Continentals occupied, including two strong redoubts on opposite banks south of Philadelphia at just such a “narrow” point in the river. The Continentals hoped that taken together, all these obstacles would prove to be an impassable choke point.

Howe appeared to agree, and on August 23—the day before the Continental Army’s grand show of force in Philadelphia—reports reached Washington that the entire enemy squadron had reappeared and anchored off the capes of a northern inlet of Chesapeake Bay at the head of Maryland’s Elk River. Within days, Gen. Howe’s army had disembarked. This struck the Americans as an odd location from which to begin a march to capture a city over 50 miles away. But that is not what the Britisher had in mind. A week earlier a message had reached Howe, who was aboard his brother’s command ship, from Lord George Germain, secretary of state for the Americas. In it, Germain suggested that after capturing Philadelphia and subduing the other Middle Atlantic colonies, Howe was to leave the conquered territories to be maintained by Loyalist militias while he drove north to join Burgoyne in upstate New York. Germain, a dour misanthrope with no patience for rebels of any stripe, strongly hinted that the Crown expected Gen. Howe to crush this bothersome uprising before 1777 was out. Thus Gen. Howe’s primary intention was to lure Washington and his entire force into a major, war-ending confrontation. As it happened, this was what Washington also looked forward to—“One bold stroke [to] free the land from rapine, devastations, and burnings,” he wrote to Gen. Benedict Arnold.

Meanwhile, the commander in chief was privately encountering a different kind of enemy, threefold, bureaucratic in nature, and wielding paper instead of guns: the Continental Congress, the civil government of Pennsylvania, and the Board of War. The third of these, officially titled the Board of War and Ordnance, had been established in June 1776 as a temporary liaison between the civil authorities and the military. Staffed by five congressional delegates and a skeleton crew of clerks, the board was charged with overseeing various functions of military administration from enlistments to promotions while remaining an arm’s length from the physical army. But by April 1777 the original board members, burdened by mountains of organizational duties, reported to Congress that they could not keep pace with the workload. They suggested their own replacement by a permanent body of professional soldiers. Congress was deliberating just such a move, which Washington correctly viewed as a threat to his authority, even as he prepared to meet Gen. Howe’s army.

Moreover, there were those in Congress, particularly among the New England contingent, whose confidence in Washington’s leadership was eroding. Memories of the Continental Army’s surprise Christmas victories of 1776 at Trenton and Princeton were fading, replaced by ennui over the lack of movement across the spring and summer of 1777. The fiery John Adams, one of the most influential members of the Continental Congress, feared handing Washington untrammeled power, and worried aloud that the country’s growing devotion to the commander in chief was producing the very type of regal figure whose yoke America was fighting to throw off. More to the point: who was Washington to deserve this veneration if he remained unable to use the momentum of his victories in New Jersey to further the rebellion?

Finally, what was perhaps of most pressing, and distressing, importance to Washington was the Pennsylvania state government’s apparent laissez-faire approach to the impending military clash. This attitude was most evident in the state’s request that a portion of its militiamen be temporarily released from his command in order to return to their farms to plant winter corn. There was a precedent for this seeming indifference. The Continental Congress had always been wary of a standing national army, and the Pennsylvania state politicians followed suit. They were even, incredibly, under the impression that Washington’s mixed force of regulars and militiamen was already “far too numerous.” The absence of a few units, they reasoned, would not much be missed.

Washington knew better, no matter how far his host of raw recruits may have evolved since Bunker Hill. He understood perfectly that what seemed a formidable force to the throngs of cheering Philadelphians was in fact about to meet the most disciplined and confident armed force in the world. He had seen with his own eyes what could result.

Over two decades earlier, while fighting for the British during the French and Indian War as a 22-year-old lieutenant colonel, Washington had been charged with leading a ragtag unit of Virginia militiamen into the uncharted territory then called the Ohio Country—a vast area west of the Blue Ridge Mountains and south of the Great Lakes. His orders: to backstop a company of British regulars dispatched to drive the French from what is now western Pennsylvania. When the Redcoats and their colonial attendants found the French and their Indian allies, a murderous fight ensued. Though Washington’s backwoodsmen had never seen action against trained soldiers, he was confident that their frontier wiles and experience would stand them well. Yet his green recruits withered under concerted and coordinated enemy fire, retreating and falling on their own rum supply in fright and despair. Washington had kept his composure and comported himself with dignity during what became a bloody slaughter, but the memory of his callow militiamen breaking against professional troops never left him.

So even as the huzzahs from Front and Chestnut Streets still echoed, he dispatched couriers west and south from his campsite at Darby with urgent requests for fresh regiments. He also took the opportunity to recross the Schuylkill and personally implore individual congressional delegates to pressure their states’ recruiting officers to send more men as soon as possible. He reminded them that the hopes for independence so raised by his army on parade only a few days earlier were about to be sorely tested, and it would not be soaring rhetoric that beat back the enemy at the city’s gates, but hard flint and steel. In response, the solons of the Continental Congress vowed to appoint a steering panel to explore the army’s understaffing problem. And they did. It would be one of 114 committees they created that year.



I. As certain as Burgoyne, whose plan for isolating New England from America’s middle and southern colonies depended upon it.

II. Though King George III had “rented” his foreign troops from the rulers of six German principalities, the vast majority of them—close to 19,000—hailed from the Prussian landgraviate of Hesse-Cassel. They combined with another 2,500 from Hesse-Hanau to lend the name Hessians to all German mercenaries. The second-largest contingent, just over 5,700 men, had come from the principality of Brunswick.



TWO
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TO CROWN THE BRAVE

The distant echo of British boots had a sobering effect.

In late August, as news spread through Philadelphia of Gen. Howe’s landing, the Pennsylvania state legislature rescinded its request to release soldiers for the summer planting season and instead ordered its militia commanders to station 5,000 men along the city’s southwestern heights in a line of defense. The British army, no longer aboard a ghost fleet adrift somewhere on the Atlantic, was now a palpable threat, and a terrain that had previously seen little fighting suddenly pulsed in anticipation of battle. As the historian Wayne Bodle observes, “A summer of anxious maneuvering was finally about to culminate in combat.”

It was with this sense of urgency that Congress ordered great stores of food, clothing, and military equipment heaped onto carts and hauled from Philadelphia into the western Pennsylvania towns of Lancaster and York. A trickle of the city’s citizens followed the juddering wagon trains, the same civilians who had cheered loudest during the Continental Army’s parade through the city only days earlier. Now, in anticipation of Gen. Howe’s arrival—and not a little apprehensive over Washington’s ability to stop him—they, too, headed inland.

And then, in an anticlimax of a sort, a stillness fell over the city. Even as Washington directed his divisions south to head off the British, he and his staff remained confounded by the enemy’s sluggish pace. The Americans had no way of knowing that, for the moment, Gen. Howe’s Redcoats constituted a recovering army after having been battered by a series of ferocious storms during their monthlong sea voyage. The British horses that hadn’t been chucked overboard owing to a lack of fresh water were so malnourished as to be useless, and the cramped troopship quarters had turned the infantry into a shambolic mob less keen on fighting rebels than on looting Maryland’s barns and grain sheds. Howe himself recognized that any movement toward Philadelphia would have to wait until his army regained its land legs, so he limited his forays to scouting parties sent north to report back on the most expeditious routes into Pennsylvania.

Earlier in the year there had been ephemeral hopes among England’s war planners that Howe would quickly dispose of Washington’s ragtag regiments before leading his British and German forces north to join with Gen. John “Gentleman Johnny” Burgoyne’s army marching south from Canada. This was the plan the satanically handsome Burgoyne had personally put forth the previous winter to King George in London. Burgoyne was renowned for his fondness for British gambling houses, German mistresses, and French champagne—the English Whig antiquarian Horace Walpole coined the phrase “all sail and no ballast” in his honor—and the bon-viveur’s horseback rides with the king through Hyde Park had inspired talk in Whitehall of putting an end to the American insurgency by Christmas. Now, Howe’s leisurely pace rendered this timetable moot.

Unlike Burgoyne, Gen. Howe was by nature a cautious man. Upon landing in Maryland he wrote to George Germain that he was shocked to find patriotic passion running stronger than he anticipated among the inhabitants of the middle colonies of Pennsylvania, Maryland, Delaware, and New Jersey. He had issued a general order offering protection to all civilians who remained in their homes and turned over their arms. Yet along the roads he passed scores of abandoned farmsteads, their fields and orchards ready to be harvested, their fat cattle untended. At least his soldiers ate well. In his letter to Whitehall he also grumbled that there was little hope of ending the war in 1777 “without the sizable addition of reinforcements from England.”

This admission was eerily similar to his complaint of 18 months earlier, after he and his forces had been driven from Boston. Then he had written to Germain confessing apprehension about putting down the American rebellion as rapidly as London expected. Both justifications, of course, were fairly standard military tactics—underplay one’s prospects for quick victory. Howe was also demonstrating a remarkable lack of self-awareness as to how he was being painted in London as a defeatist. In any event, after his abandonment of Boston and the humiliating defeat at Trenton, Howe’s die was cast in Pennsylvania. When he was denied his request for 15,000 more troops, this was rationale enough for him to allow the Redcoats already under his command to halt intermittently to plunder local farmsteads while moving through Maryland and Delaware at a glacial pace. Oddly, with his insouciant strategy, Howe was matching Washington’s own lagging pace.

♦  ♦  ♦

Long before his civic virtues began to inspire comparisons to the selfless Roman citizen-soldier Cincinnatus, Washington was already known among his officer corps by another Roman epithet, “the Great Fabius.” This was an homage to the general Quintus Fabius Maximus Verrucosus, whose tactics of sideslipping pitched battles with Hannibal’s stronger Carthaginian invasion force in the third century BC eventually led to Rome’s victory in the Second Punic War. However, Fabius’s disposition toward eschewing direct assaults in favor of a guerrilla approach of ambush and harassment, particularly of the enemy’s supply lines, did not come naturally to Washington. In fact, it went against everything in his aggressive temperament, as was noted by Hamilton: “The enemy will have Philadelphia . . . unless we fight them a pretty general action,” he complained to the New York congressman Gouverneur Morris, a signer of the Declaration of Independence and the man destined to write the preamble to the United States Constitution. But to this point in the war, a Fabian strategy of bleeding not only the enemy force around its edges, but also the British taxpayers, had proved more efficacious for Washington. His was the weaker army, and if the fact of its simple survival mandated that the British spend their time and energy continually attempting to find and defeat it, he surmised that sooner or later King George and Parliament would decide that they were paying too steep a price to retain their American colonies.

Further, many of Washington’s subordinates carried in their rucksacks well-thumbed copies of Caesar’s Gallic Wars to read aloud in Latin by firelight. What he and his officer corps were quick to recognize was that despite the invention of gunpowder and firearms, core military principles had not altered significantly since ancient times. Washington was fond of quoting key battle scenes from Shakespeare’s Julius Caesar and Henry V at his war councils and, not surprisingly, his favorite play was Joseph Addison’s Cato, a Tragedy, a drama in which he had performed some 25 years earlier. In its depiction of the stoic Marcus Portius Cato’s republican resistance to the tyranny of Julius Caesar’s dictatorship, the play served as a rather obvious metaphor. As Washington’s biographer Ron Chernow notes, “The rhetoric of Cato saturated the American Revolution.” Both Patrick Henry’s famous appeal for liberty or death and the captured spy Nathan Hale’s lament that he had but one life to give for his country were taken nearly word for word from two of the play’s most famous lines.I

♦  ♦  ♦

By early September, Continental scouts had located the British army plodding inexorably north through Delaware. Washington was forced to conclude that, sooner than later, his Fabian strategy could no longer abide. Yet true to the cautious nature he had adopted, over the next week he was content to merely shadow Howe while, with his farmer’s instincts, he himself kept a close eye on the terrain for any battlefield advantage. A few units of Pennsylvania militiamen were pulled from their posts south of Philadelphia and ordered to harass Howe’s rear. And forward pickets from the two maneuvering forces did sometimes skirmish, blundering into each other mostly by accident.II But as the days ground on the two generals were still marching their armies on parallel tracks in a generally northwest direction, with Washington always positioning his main body of troops between the enemy and Philadelphia.

It frustrated Washington that the scores of prisoners his forward parties captured could provide no solid information as to Howe’s intentions. And as the two opponents continued to probe each other like prizefighters searching for a weakness—Washington was reported by several British officers to have been observed personally raising a spyglass on a faraway hill—there were some on the commander in chief’s staff who argued that Howe’s northwest trajectory signaled not a move on Philadelphia at all, but a thrust toward the Continental caches of weapons and food stored in the state’s interior. Washington publicly acknowledged the “Mystery” of Gen. Howe’s plans, but privately entertained “little doubt” that the American capital city remained his ultimate target.

Finally, on September 8, Howe showed his hand when he ordered his troops north toward Philadelphia. Forty-eight hours later the two armies found themselves separated by mere miles on opposite sides of a wide and fast-flowing watercourse called Brandywine Creek.

♦  ♦  ♦

Brandywine Creek, often mistaken for a river because of its width and depth, is formed by the confluence of two smaller rivulets with headwaters in Pennsylvania’s western Chester County. On its journey to Delaware Bay it courses through a terrain of plunging ravines and rocky rises blanketed by thick spinneys of tulip poplars and towering black oak. Its current is strong enough to power gristmills, sawmills, and even the paper mill that pressed the sheets on which the Declaration of Independence was written. Washington recognized immediately that this topography formed the last natural line of defense on the road to Philadelphia, some 25 miles to the northeast. The British, having shorn themselves of all “tents, trunks, chests, boxes, other bedding and [extra] cloaths,” were camped in the craggy hills that rose from the creek’s western bank. The Americans, traveling similarly light, occupied an eight-mile belt on the opposite side of the water.

Of the half-dozen possible crossings along the Brandywine, the optimal one was Chadds Ford, a stretch of waist-deep water running about 150 feet from bank to bank situated on the “Great Post Road” that connected Baltimore to Philadelphia. Washington detached small units to guard the fording sites to the north and south with the intention of funneling the British toward Chadds Ford. He placed six or seven field pieces on the high ground overlooking the ford, and took as his headquarters the stone house of a miller just east of the crossing. He knew well what was at stake on the banks of the rushing Brandywine.

Washington was a reluctant public speaker, and days earlier he had used a General Order to inform his troops that they were about to embark upon what very well might be the most decisive battle of the war for independence. A defeat of the British here and now, he’d announced, “and they are utterly undone—the war is at an end. The eyes of all America, and of Europe are turned upon us [and] the most important moment is at hand . . . [where] glory awaits to crown the brave.” To emphasize the importance of every soldier steeling himself for this momentous engagement, he had each commander muster his troops to announce that any men caught fleeing the battlefield “would be instantly shot down as a just punishment to themselves and for examples to others . . . to prevent the cowardly from making a sacrifice of the brave.” Now, with their “arms cleaned and put in the best possible order . . . their bayonets fixed . . . and their flints screwed in fast,” the Continentals were, in the words of the Rhode Island general Nathanael Greene, “in high spirits” and burning for a fight.

Of his senior officers, Washington was fondest of Greene, who at 33 was the youngest major general in the Continental Army until Lafayette was commissioned. Dubbed the “Fighting Quaker,” Greene had quit the Society of Friends as a teenager after being scolded by his parents for ignoring his Bible studies in favor of military histories and journals. His fondness for alehouses further alienated him from his family’s religious community. Ignoring the reprimands of his father, a prosperous iron forge and sawmill owner, Greene helped found a militia in his hometown, East Greenwich, Rhode Island, where his reading habits expanded to include poetry, philosophy, and even the satire of Jonathan Swift.

Though Greene suffered from bouts of asthma and walked with a pronounced limp from a childhood sawmill accident, portraits from the era depict him as a strikingly handsome man, with burning blue eyes, a narrow straight nose, full lips, and a pair of broad shoulders that tapered to a V-shaped torso. Appropriately, in Catharine “Caty” Littlefield, he had married one of New England’s most beautiful women. Despite his lack of formal education, in 1775 Greene was at Washington’s urging commissioned a brigadier by the First Continental Congress by dint of what one historian calls his “dawn-to-dusk work habits.” His personal bravery and his grasp of both strategy and tactics had impressed Washington during the siege of Boston—it was said that the Rhode Island militia’s tent camp was the most disciplined and professional in the entire army—and the commander in chief had even recommended to Congress that should he himself fall in combat, Greene be appointed to take his place.

Washington would need all of Gen. Greene’s martial qualities, for by the evening of September 10, he had wheeled his army to face the Brandywine, with the greatest concentration of troops massed under Greene near Chadds Ford. It was a disastrous mistake. On the other side of the creek, Gen. Howe’s intelligence officers had recruited a clutch of Pennsylvania Tories with an intimate knowledge of the local terrain. Washington had apparently overlooked or chosen to ignore Howe’s oft-stated preference for flanking maneuvers as opposed to costly frontal assaults. It was one of the qualities that bound his men to him.

The previous evening the civilian Loyalists had sketched for Howe a route that would take him farther north, where he could skirt the farthermost American pickets and cross the upper Brandywine’s two shallow forks. With Howe and his chief commander Lord Gen. Charles Cornwallis embarking on a lightning march up and across the streams, the British would fall on Washington’s right wing in a surprise attack. To complete the ruse, Howe left a rump force of some 6,000 Hessians on the west bank of the creek near Chadds Ford with instructions to their commander, Gen. Wilhelm von Knyphausen, to act as if the entire army were preparing for a bold rush across the water and into the teeth of the Continental line.

So it occurred that in the predawn hours of September 11, guided by the local Tories under the cover of a dense fog, Gen. Howe and Gen. Cornwallis led close to 9,000 Redcoats north while the Americans, girding for battle at Chadds Ford, took von Knyphausen’s bait. Soon after sunrise the Hessians began cannonading the Americans; they also initiated a few minor skirmishes about the river as Washington rode the length of his line to the sound of cheering troops and, increasingly, the crack of muskets and the thunderous reports of artillery fire. Washington maintained that courage and cowardice alike flowed from the leadership of an army, and he practiced what he preached. At one point a British cannonball took the head off an American artilleryman standing but a few feet from him, and at another an enemy sharpshooter was said to have had the American commander in chief lined up in his sights just as Washington turned his back to him. The chivalric rifleman, Maj. Patrick Ferguson, refused to pull the trigger and shoot a man in the back.III

As it was, the skirmishing at Chadds Ford was thick enough to lull Washington and his staff into overlooking the scattered intelligence reports arriving by couriers that indicated enemy movements to the north. There was no little irony in Howe’s subterfuge. The French and Indian War had taught Washington the valuable lesson that the rugged and thickly overgrown terrain of the New World inhibited the conventional warfare preferred by the great European armies, with lines of troops arrayed opposite one another on open battlefields. Whenever possible, Washington instead intended to fight the British as the French had done, with speed and stealth—“Indian style,” he called it. Such cunning had worked for him at Trenton and Princeton, yet now here was Howe employing a feint-and-flank maneuver perfectly consonant with the linear procedures of the great eighteenth-century armies.

Around noon, Washington was informed that one of his scouting parties had spotted what they took to be several companies of Redcoats on the American side of the river to the north. But a second communiqué contradicted this and suggested that the movement was a British feint as the main army massed for an attack across Chadds Ford. It was not until midafternoon that a rider arrived at Washington’s temporary headquarters with definitive word that the greater part of Howe’s army had indeed crossed the Brandywine’s northern forks. His grand battle plan undone, the commander in chief spurred his horse north at a gallop to save what he could of both his army and his reputation. But here it was Howe’s turn to blunder.

Had the British struck immediately at the Americans’ exposed right flank, the Continental Army would have shattered like spun glass. But by now the fog had lifted, the afternoon had turned into a humid swelter, and the Redcoats, having quick-marched nearly 17 miles since before daybreak, lagged in forming their attack columns. This gave Washington enough time to reach his two reserve divisions and instruct their commanders to take up positions atop a hill that rose between the enemy advance and the bulk of the patriot force. For one of these generals, William Alexander—an American-born ironmaster whose lapsed inheritance of a Scottish earldom entitled him to the honorific Lord Stirling—the order must have seemed eerily familiar. A year earlier, during the catastrophic Battle of Long Island, Gen. Lord Stirling had been captured while leading the 1st Maryland Regiment in fighting a rearguard action that allowed Washington’s main body of troops to slip away intact. Now, at the head of a division of New Jerseyans after a prisoner exchange, he and the Scots-born Gen. Adam Stephen, commanding two brigades of Virginians, were being asked to again sacrifice themselves for the good of the greater whole.

General Howe moved on this makeshift line around four o’clock. Stephen’s Virginians and Lord Stirling’s New Jersey infantry had dragged several small field pieces to the crest of the hill, and their canisters and grapeshot combined with Continental musket fire to rip holes in the ranks of the advancing British grenadiers. This effectively gave the northernmost Americans stationed on the Brandywine—two brigades of Maryland regulars under the command of Gen. John Sullivan—time to fall back from the creek and join the reserve divisions, although they encountered murderous fire as they attempted to create a joined line with Stephen’s and Lord Stirling’s men.

General Sullivan, a former New Hampshire congressman in overall command of this right wing of the American army, had also fought in the Battle of Long Island. After the British had similarly surprised Washington with a flanking maneuver then, his Continentals had so botched their fallback that the Hessians had openly mocked them as they bayonetted to death those who had thrown away their arms and surrendered in panic. Now, however, the majority of Sullivan’s soldiers stood rock-steady as the British softened up their positions with a cannon bombardment.IV Finally, the British fixed bayonets and charged the division holding Sullivan’s left flank. Following the lead of their confused commander, the Frenchman Gen. Preudhomme de Borre, most of the American units panicked and broke as Lafayette, who had turned 20 five days earlier and had pleaded with Washington to be allowed to take part in his first action, attempted to regain some of France’s honor. Spurring his horse, the marquis galloped up and down before the stampeding troops and, in his broken English, exhorted them to stand and fight.V On several occasions he jumped from his saddle to tackle soldiers running toward the rear. It was during one of these scrums that an aide noticed blood pouring from his left calf and helped him back onto his horse. Despite his boot filling with blood, Lafayette refused to leave the field as thousands of charging Redcoats swarmed Lord Stirling’s remaining division and the fight degenerated into “muzzle to muzzle” and hand-to-hand combat.

Before they could be completely surrounded the New Jerseyans and Virginians under Gen. Lord Stirling and Gen. Stephen managed to fall back through the glades of the steep and rocky terrain pocked with giant bluestone volcanic rock, using the boulders and the thick trunks of pignut hickory and blackgum tupelos as cover as they crouched to reload and return fire. Like their English and German counterparts, most of the colonists were armed with smoothbore muskets, often called firelocks or flintlocks after the flint-striking-steel charge ignition in the gunlock. A well-trained soldier might load and fire such a weapon three times in a minute. But a portion of the backwoodsmen, particularly the Virginians, carried long rifles. Although these took longer to load, they were more accurate. This afternoon they made deadly use of them, and so slowed the enemy advance that even the haughty Lord Cornwallis was moved to concede to Gen. Howe that “the damn rebels form well” as he watched the fight unfold from a rise overlooking the battlefield. It was small consolation.
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By this time Washington had returned to his headquarters, from where he could clearly hear the artillery and musket reports of a major engagement taking place behind him. Before him across the Brandywine, meanwhile, he watched Gen. von Knyphausen’s Hessians prepare to attack. It was likely at this moment that he realized that he had lost the day.

Praying that Gen. Greene’s regulars were as high spirited as he had boasted, Washington ordered Greene’s two brigades of Virginians pulled from their original position on the lower Brandywine and rushed north. As Greene’s division raced the nearly four miles up the east bank of the creek it actually had to break ranks to allow Gen. de Borre and his fleeing troops to pass through their battle line. After reforming on a battlefield that Greene described as raining “hot fire,” his Virginians stood firm against the British attack for over an hour, the riflemen from the Old Dominion fighting like Vikings with iron and oak. Their efforts bought Washington enough time to begin pulling his remaining troops back up the road toward Philadelphia. Finally, as the sky purpled to the color of a mussel shell, Greene’s troops, bone-weary and nearly out of ammunition, formed up and began to draw off in good order.

♦  ♦  ♦

Back at Chadds Ford, Gen. von Knyphausen’s Hessians along with several detachments of British foot soldiers had already routed a corps of American light infantry who had waded through the Brandywine to patrol its west bank. After hearing Cornwallis’s cannons fire to the north, and sensing the depletion of the forces arrayed against him across the water, the German commander ordered a full assault. The air on the east bank of the creek was soon thick with flintlock smoke as tree branches cracked to the ground and cannonballs furrowed the forest floor. Outnumbered three to one, the 2,000 or so veteran Continentals remaining under the command of General Anthony Wayne held firm for several volleys before falling back. Great daubs of British and Hessian blood stained the creek red, but still the enemy came. Their advance was bolstered when a contingent of British Guards who had been lost in the forest fell in with von Knyphausen’s troops.

Wayne, a 32-year-old Chester County native and Pennsylvania’s only active general in the field, had no formal military training prior to the war. But Washington admired his zeal and innate quick thinking in the saddle. His faith proved prescient; Wayne’s knowledge of the terrain and his savvy maneuvering during the running fight as his troops fell back pell-mell from height to height prevented von Knyphausen’s combined force from completely encircling and devouring the Pennsylvanians. With the recently arrived Polish count Casimir Pulaski’s 30 or so horsemen helping to blunt the British advance and screening the Continental retreat, the defeated Americans withdrew before halting at the town of Chester, Pennsylvania, some 14 miles to the east.

To Washington’s astonishment, Gen. Howe declined to press his advantage that evening, deeming it out of the question to pursue the Continentals through the darkness without enough wagons to haul supplies, a decision he would be subsequently criticized for. While some exhausted Redcoats found shelter in nearby Tory farmhouses, most simply dropped and spread their blankets over the battlefield.

The British listed 587 casualties, including 93 dead. Although no official American casualty list survives, Gen. Howe reported to his colonial secretary with only slight exaggeration that his troops had killed some 300 Continentals, wounded another 600, and taken 400 prisoners.VI The British had also captured 11 of the Americans’ artillery field pieces. So many Americans lay bleeding out near the Brandywine’s eastern bank and across the surrounding hills and fields that Gen. Howe would soon signal to Washington to send in Continental doctors under a flag of truce to minister to them. In the majority of cases this meant amputation without anesthetic.

The various Pennsylvania militias attached to the Continental Army had at times appeared bewildered by their first whiffs of gunpowder fired in anger. “Fighting is a new thing with these,” Gen. Greene wrote to his wife, Caty, “and many seem to have a poor stomach for the business.” This was evident by the some 315 names of militiamen later posted as deserters. Yet the greater part of the American regulars had acquitted themselves with martial professionalism during the fallback. Washington’s officers, grasping for a silver lining, felt that the crumbling retreat they had overseen was actually a small victory of sorts, what one called a “mitigated defeat.” That night, in a letter to John Hancock to inform Congress of the “misfortune of the day”—the first draft of which Washington found too dispiriting to send—the commander in chief managed to convey a touch of optimism. “I am happy to find the troops in good spirits,” he wrote, “and I hope another time we shall compensate for the losses now sustained.” Even in defeat, especially in defeat, Washington was aware of his duty to keep afloat his army’s morale. And though it is tempting to view his communiqué to Hancock as a ploy to succeed in just that, his confident assurances were not all bluster or bravado.

Washington’s private tendency was often to see the dark and pessimistic side in most of life’s occurrences. But by the next morning as stragglers continued to trickle into the Continental camp, the consensus had been reached among American officers and enlisted men that the British had achieved their victory through a sort of quirk of fate—specifically, the enemy’s reliance on sympathizers much more familiar with the terrain than the Continentals. Given the nature of Gen. Howe’s surprise attack, this theory went, the Americans had in fact turned what could have been a deathblow into a mere bruising. As soldiers continued to wander into Chester from as far away as Wilmington, Delaware, there was already talk of regrouping for another assault.

Nevertheless, the stinging British victory at Brandywine Creek left more than enough grist for Washington’s political enemies to mill. Why had he merely stalked Howe’s army for weeks before choosing to fight? How could a foreign enemy have accrued such better knowledge of the landscape than an American force containing so many homegrown soldiers? How had a dust-raising force of over 8,000 Redcoats slipped past his reconnaissance units so effortlessly? It was also noted that at one point during their secret march the British had been forced to traverse a defile so narrow and deep that even their own officers feared their entire army could be pinned down by a handful of Continentals. Yet no Americans had been stationed to guard the pass. Most insidiously, the fiasco at Brandywine breathed new life into the vampirical criticism that had hounded Washington since his appointment as commander in chief—that he was a one-note general unable to adjust his field tactics on the fly and had surrounded himself with a staff of sycophants and toadies.

Washington was aware of the old whispers about him that would soon be recirculating from Richmond to Boston. He was also forthright enough to step in and protest when a faction of congressional delegates attempted to place the blame for Brandywine on Gen. Sullivan. At least he could take solace from knowing that the faith he had placed in the “freakishly brave” Lafayette had been repaid in such a public manner. For as his army prepared to move to a new camp just northwest of Philadelphia, more than a few hardened veterans continued to remark on the mettle and composure the Frenchman had displayed in the face of murderous ball and shell.

It was not until Lafayette had helped organize the orderly retreat from Brandywine Creek—forming his fellow soldiers into properly disciplined lines as they marched to Chester—that he finally allowed the musket ball to be dug out of his calf. It had hit neither bone nor nerve. He was then carried to a medical barge bound for Philadelphia by, among others, the 18-year-old Virginia captain and future president James Monroe. Washington was standing on the riverbank when Lafayette’s stretcher bearers arrived and advised the doctors on board the transport to treat the young Frenchman as if he were his own son. Given the American commander in chief’s well-known impatience with the preponderance of European military “volunteers” washing up on American shores, this was a telling portent.



I. “It is not now time to talk of aught, but chains or conquest, liberty or death,” Cato tells his daughter’s suitor Juba midway through Act Two. Later, when presented with the body of his slain son, he laments, “Who would not be that youth? What pity is it that we can die but once to serve our country.”

II. It is sometimes difficult to comprehend how the era’s commanders followed the delicate rules of war. During this cat-and-mouse harass-and-skirmish game, for example, Washington ordered one of his commanders to apologize to Gen. Howe “if there is any truth in report that an enemy flag was fired upon.” (“George Washington to Brigadier General William Maxwell, 5 September 1777,” Founders Online, National Archives. (Original source: Syrett, The Papers of Alexander Hamilton, Vol. 1, p. 324.)

III. Though the latter incident has been subsequently refuted, in some quarters the fact that Washington was known to hew so close to the front lines is telling.

IV. The troughs plowed up by the British cannonballs across Birmingham Hill can be seen to this day.

V. De Borre was drummed out of the Continental Army following this debacle.

VI. The fact that three days later some 350 American prisoners of war were transferred from the field to a quickly established hospital near Wilmington, Delaware, suggests the validity of this latter figure. It would also indicate that only 50 or so Continentals had surrendered with either minor or no wounds.



THREE
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THE FRENCH CONNECTION

Even his name swaggered: Marie-Joseph-Paul-Yves-Roch-Gilbert du Motier de Lafayette. He joked that he had been christened in honor of all the saints that could protect him in battle. He would need them.

Lafayette had yet to celebrate his second birthday when his father was cut down by British cannon fire at the Battle of Minden during the Seven Years’ War. His mother died a decade later, leaving the 12-year-old marquis one of the wealthiest orphans in France. The boy was mentored by a bevy of aristocratic relatives on a rustic estate south of Paris in an area renowned for its redolent blue cheeses and a mythical man-eating wolf. He later wrote that his childhood was consumed by the same quest for military glory that had driven his forebears dating back to the Crusades. From an early age Lafayette exhibited a flair for horsemanship, and at 13 the ginger-haired youngster was commissioned an officer in King Louis XVI’s household cavalry, the marvelously named Mousquetaires Noirs, or Black Musketeers. Three years later he married into the de Noailles family, a clan even more wealthy and powerful than his own. He was soon appointed a captain in his father-in-law’s hereditary company of hard-riding dragoons.

Despite the social obligations of peerage, Lafayette shied from the decadent banquets and masked balls he and his 15-year-old child bride Adrienne de Noailles were expected to attend in Paris and Versailles. For such a skillful rider, he had a foal-like clumsiness that served to endear him to veteran soldiers but proved a major impediment at court. Once, while dancing with Marie-Antoinette, he demonstrated such left-footedness that the queen laughed in his face. Despite his frustration with the social obligations of his blueblooded lineage, it was, ironically, a member of the English aristocracy who touched fire to the candle that would light Lafayette’s journey to America.

Prince William Henry, Duke of Gloucester and Edinburgh, had fled to France from Britain in the wake of his older brother King George III’s very public displeasure over his decision to marry the illegitimate granddaughter of the British statesman Robert Walpole. One night at a dinner party Lafayette listened rapt as the duke extolled the exploits of the “liberty-loving Americans” who had just fired the first shots of the revolution at Lexington and Concord. The ambitious Lafayette, weary of what he called “the longueur of peace,” had always harbored a personal contempt for the English who had killed his father. The duke’s praise for the republicans across the Atlantic was all the push he needed. “From that hour,” Lafayette wrote, “I could think of nothing but this enterprise.”

He was not alone among adventuresome and ambitious Frenchmen.

♦  ♦  ♦

The United States needed la belle France in their war, and the French knew it. So did the British. And though Great Britain and France were technically at peace with one another at the time of America’s Declaration of Independence, the British were prepared to use their mighty Royal Navy to ensure that French provisions never reached the eastern seaboard of North America. However, despite the British mastery of the high seas, the Atlantic was a big ocean.

France was secretly colluding to supply the United States with everything from arms to uniforms to tents to blankets to shovels long before Silas Deane, a former Connecticut delegate to the Continental Congress, stepped off a clipper at the French port of Le Havre in July 1776 to help devise a way to smuggle those supplies. As the inestimable biographer of Lafayette, Sarah Vowell, has observed, “Jefferson’s pretty phrases were incomplete without the punctuation of French gunpowder.”

Deane was a rugged and handsome New Englander whose powdered wig obscured his ruddy complexion and thick shock of black hair. At 38, he had sailed to France posing as a merchant—not a stretch, considering that he had made a fortune in the West Indian sugar trade. In reality he had been authorized by the Continental Congress’s Committee of Secret Correspondence to lever France’s hostility toward England into support for the American uprising. The French were naturally bitter that the treaty that ended the Seven Years’ War in 1763 had all but wiped out their holdings in the New World. Yet their defeat in that conflict had also depleted Louis XVI’s national treasury.I The French king and his bankers knew that they could not afford to trigger another overt war against the detested “Roast Beefs” across the Channel, particularly to prop up a rebellion that to this point had shown few signs of success. A needle in Great Britain’s arse in the form of covert assistance to the Americans, however, was an appealing alternative to the rambunctious 22-year-old ruler who had assumed the throne three years earlier.

Aware of his king’s predilections, France’s foreign minister the Comte de Vergennes had already convinced Louis XVI to agree to secretly purchase military matériel to aid the Americans even before Deane arrived in Paris with cocked hat in hand. More than a decade before the Continental Congress’s ratification of the Declaration of Independence, de Vergennes had predicted that the American colonies would eventually rise against the British. He had more recently warned that, should their rebellion prevail, the United States would undoubtedly turn a lusty eye toward French holdings in the Caribbean.

As a sort of insurance policy to forestall any such outcome as well as secure postwar amity with the Americans, the French king had allocated one million francs to fund de Vergennes’s scheme. He even convinced his cousin on the Spanish throne to match the donation. De Vergennes used the money to set up a shell company in the name of a nonexistent Spaniard to mask the shipments. The clandestine affair rose to opera buffa heights when the French polymath and budding secret agent Pierre Beaumarchais, celebrated author of The Barber of Seville and The Marriage of Figaro, was placed in charge of the operation. That Beaumarchais—originally Pierre-Augustin Caron—had fabricated a family coat of arms to complement his fake last name made no difference to Deane, who hinted that future repayments for this extended line of credit would be made in favorable tobacco contracts.

By December 1776, as Washington was preparing his stunning Christmas-night Delaware crossing that resulted in the capture of Trenton, nearly 300,000 pounds of French gunpowder, thousands of firelocks and cannonballs, and scores of field artillery pieces and mortars had been secreted aboard French vessels allegedly carrying grain and wine to the French Caribbean. But there was a problem. The British spy network on the European continent, including a double agent whom Deane had hired as his private secretary, had the particulars of the plot in hand. When Great Britain threatened France with war should those ships weigh anchor, Louis XVI backed down. In a public humiliation, the foreign minister, de Vergennes, was forced to issue a proclamation ordering the immediate arrest of any sea captain delivering succor to the American rebels and any French army officer attempting to sail for America to volunteer his services. A small consolation prize for Deane and the revolutionaries was the three large merchant vessels that had already begun the transatlantic passage prior to the royal decree to stand down. They managed to dock at Portsmouth, New Hampshire, and offload crates of clothing, gunpowder, 58 cannons, 12,000 muskets and bayonets, and enough tents to house 10,000 men.

Lafayette viewed this as a start. He was soon to follow.

♦  ♦  ♦

By the time news of the American victories at Trenton and Princeton reached France, Benjamin Franklin had arrived in Paris to oversee Deane’s secret treaty negotiations with Versailles. When Deane introduced him to Lafayette, Franklin instantly recognized the value of the “young Nobleman of great family Connections & great Wealth.” The American envoys happily accepted Lafayette’s offer of service and supplied the teenage marquis with a letter of introduction to John Hancock. Within weeks, however, Louis XVI made it a crime for any Frenchman to aid the colonies. Lafayette was nonplussed. Despite his wife’s first pregnancy, he had already purchased a 268-ton merchant ship in Bordeaux, renamed it La Victoire, and furtively stocked it with food and armaments. When his guardian and mentor the Comte de Broglie could not talk Lafayette out of his wild and now illegal adventure, de Broglie did the next best thing by recruiting the Bavarian soldier of fortune Baron Johann de Kalb to accompany Lafayette on his journey. De Kalb, a hulking 55-year-old whom the British had previously expelled from North America on charges of spying for the French, was more than eager to resume his antagonism toward the Crown.

Perhaps feeling last-minute pangs of guilt over abandoning his pregnant wife for this “unique opportunity to distinguish myself, and to learn my profession,” Lafayette abruptly confessed his plans to his father-in-law Jean-Louis-Paul-François de Noailles, the fifth duc d’Ayen. He had given his word to the Americans, he told the duc, “and you would not have respected me had I gone back on it.” De Noailles was not happy with his son-in-law’s decision, but he reluctantly agreed to keep it secret. Writing years later of “the secrecy with which this negotiation and my preparations were made,” Lafayette set sail for the United States to join les insurgents in April 1777. The marquis spent most of the voyage studying the English language, blissfully unaware that Parisian salons and coffeehouses were atwitter with news of his audacity. By the time he arrived in Philadelphia in July, the king had privately forgiven him and Voltaire had even visited his wife, Adrienne, to bow in homage to her husband’s beau geste. It was this deftness with older male authority figures that allowed Lafayette to rapidly assume a filial role in Washington’s inner circle.

The two met when the 19-year-old, sporting a major general’s sash, brashly introduced himself to Washington in Philadelphia’s City Tavern on the last evening of July. Elegant and slim, with full lips, an upturned nose, and a prematurely receding hairline, Lafayette charmed Washington with his youthful brio for poetic pronouncements as well as his ability to segue from diffident self-abasement to fervent ambition in mid-sentence. Adding to his cachet was his physical stature. In an era when men’s average height was five feet eight inches, the young Frenchman could directly meet the gaze of the Continental Army’s commander in chief. Washington invited Lafayette to join him the following morning for a tour of the Continental defenses along the Delaware River.

The American general was certainly not blind to the diplomatic advantages of befriending a well-connected French nobleman. Yet Washington, whose own youth was rife with romantic paeans to justice and fair play, also saw something deeper in Lafayette’s earnest devotion to American liberty. “The happiness of America is intimately connected to the happiness of all mankind,” the marquis had written to his wife upon making landfall in the United States. Even if Washington expressed such sentiments less floridly, they were very similar to his own. There was, however, a limit to the commander in chief’s forbearance.

Before intruding on Washington’s supper, Lafayette had presented himself to John Hancock armed with his letter of introduction from Franklin and Deane. In the accreditation papers, which Lafayette had apparently not read, the American diplomats cautioned Congress that the young man was so well ensconced in the French aristocracy that any harm that came to him might negatively affect the delicate treaty negotiations Franklin was conducting. Congress, impressed with Lafayette’s proposal to serve at his own expense, massaged this complication with a compromise. He would be commissioned a “volunteer” major general in the Continental Army—thus the sash upon his meeting with Washington—with the understanding that the appointment was expressly an honorary title. The delegates presumed that Washington would take Lafayette under his wing as an aide and keep him out of danger. This presented a problem: no one had informed the marquis of the arrangement.

Not long after their river tour, Washington was perplexed when Lafayette requested two aides-de-camp. He also informed both Hancock and his new commander in chief that, as he was new to the conflict, he was graciously willing to initially test his mettle on the general’s staff before eventually being “entrusted with a division of the Army” due an officer of his rank. Washington was flabbergasted and complained to a fellow Virginian, the congressman Benjamin Harrison, “If Congress meant that this rank should be unaccompanied by Command, I wish it had been sufficiently explained to [Lafayette]. If on the other hand it was intended to vest him with all the powers of a Major Genl why have I been led into a contrary belief, & left in the dark with respect to my own conduct towards him?”

Washington was used to masking his true emotions when dealing with the civil authorities. His political calculations often took the guise of false modesty. Sometimes these feelings were even genuine, as when he tearfully confessed to his friend Patrick Henry his inner fears of disgrace and failure upon accepting the commission to lead the Continentals. More often than not, however, his shows of humility were convenient contrivances that bordered on the sarcastic. In this instance, in case his point to Harrison proved too subtle, he added, “I know no more of this than the Child unborn, & beg to be instructed.”

Despite this confusion, Lafayette’s infectious enthusiasm struck a chord in Washington’s fragile psyche. Throughout his service during the French and Indian War the young Virginia planter had chafed at the second-class citizenship to which the Crown had relegated him and his fellow colonial officers. His requests for a royal commission in the king’s regular army had been repeatedly rebuffed. And though he had risen to the rank of colonel in the militia, to his lasting resentment he too often found himself groveling for recognition from proper British officers of lower rank who treated him—as was their prerogative under the imperial system—as a provincial subaltern. It was a slight that rankled him still.

In Lafayette, however, he had discovered an officer from a lofty and professional European army who proffered not only respect but subservience of rank to the diffident former member of Virginia’s middle gentry. Upon their initial inspection of the Continental Army, for instance, Washington’s old insecurities surfaced when he apologized to Lafayette for the threadbare clothing and substandard armaments of his troops. Without hesitation the Frenchman replied that he had come to the United States to learn from the Americans, and not to teach. Washington never forgot the moment.

But Lafayette’s self-effacement in no way hid his thirst for battlefield accolades—the Frenchman’s very essence, observed one biographer, regularly required “the dignity of danger.” Though Washington may have viewed Lafayette’s passionate chivalry as a mirror reflection of his own youth, not all of his new American hosts were quite so taken. Thomas Jefferson and John Adams were both initially leery of yet another arrogant and interloping Frenchman’s bountiful appetite for fame and flattery. Moreover, many of Lafayette’s detractors, descended from good Puritan stock, found off-putting his Gallic habit of hugging people at the slightest provocation. Throughout his life, Washington had always shied away from any physical familiarity, instant or deliberate. His trust, respect, and friendship had to be earned. Even at that, a salute or a handshake would usually suffice. Yet there was something about Lafayette that penetrated the commander in chief’s hard shell. The young man was at heart an idealist who, despite his thirst for glory, was a true believer in the American cause. In other words, he was a rarity.

♦  ♦  ♦

On the whole, Washington had little use for the scores of French officers who swarmed to the United States to accrue personal glory fighting the hated British. Unlike Lafayette, whose English was by now at least rudimentary, many spoke none at all and were therefore useless in commanding American troops. Worse, from Washington’s point of view, the language barrier left them unable even to help raise recruits. Moreover, their ubiquitous demands for stations well above their European ranks stole jobs from more worthy Americans and engendered a deep “disgust” in the Continental Army’s officer corps. Although thankful for hardened warriors such as de Kalb, Washington repeatedly remonstrated with Franklin and Deane for burdening his command with the louche offspring of wealthy French aristocrats whose “every new arrival is only a source of embarrassment to congress and myself.” He went so far as to warn Hancock of the “evil” this transatlantic pipeline was bringing upon the revolution.

At one point the army’s redoubtable chief artillery officer, Gen. Henry Knox, offered his resignation when Congress attempted to supersede him with a French “general” endorsed by the increasingly harried Deane. The Frenchman’s sole claim to expertise with cannon and shot was apparently a close affiliation with the ceremonial artillery displayed at Louis XVI’s Versailles palace. Henry Knox was not a soldier Washington could afford to lose, nor were the generals Greene and Sullivan, who also threatened to resign if Knox was supplanted by the French interloper. Luckily for the commander in chief, the stalemate ultimately resolved itself when the foreign courtier imperiously spurred his horse toward a ferry departing the banks of the Schuylkill, missed the platform, and drowned in the river. The horse swam to safety.

But the contretemps was indicative of the larger problem. Franklin, more circumspect than Deane, had a better reading of the French character. In a nation besotted by both Enlightenment ideals and Rousseau’s teleological paeans to nature, the urbane Franklin had taken to playing up the homespun nature of his fellow Americans by wearing a fur trapper’s beaver cap on his visits to Versailles. But Franklin was also acutely aware of Washington’s frustration at having to accept a modicum of vain and preening adventurers as the price to pay for future French comity. He only half facetiously observed that he had become reluctant to accept invitations to Parisian salons for fear of being engulfed in a sea of military supplicants in their pink collars and velvet lapels.

Conversely, one group of French volunteers whom Washington did hold in high esteem were the country’s military engineers. Most of these officers had graduated from the prestigious Royal Engineering School at Mezières and were considered the finest in the world. Despite Washington’s wariness about the efficiency of their chevaux-de-frise to hamper British naval advances, over the course of the Revolutionary War he relied upon them to erect fortifications, map terrain, and lay out trenches and encampments. Among these officers was the 34-year-old Louis Duportail, who arrived in America as a volunteer in early 1777 and by that July had risen to the position of chief engineer of the Continental Army. Duportail had an impressive reputation for reforming and revising the regulations of the French army’s corps of engineers, and Washington’s regard for his skills was such that he almost always deferred to the Frenchman’s opinion. Although Lafayette lacked the combat experience of Duportail and was not an engineer by training, he proved “a fast study, showed courage under fire, and had an imaginative mind for military schemes.” And as he had demonstrated at Brandywine, he also possessed a knack for inspiring soldiers while chasing the martial honors he so badly wanted.

Hence it was fair to wonder how Washington felt the news of Lafayette’s injury during the fight on the Brandywine would be received in Versailles, as he stood on a bank of the Delaware and watched his wounded protégé sailing upriver on a medical barge. Little did he know that rumors would soon spread through Paris, and beyond, that Lafayette was dead.



I. In no small slice of irony, the successive British levies that sparked the American Revolution—the Stamp Act of 1765, the Townshend Revenue Act of 1767, the Tea Act of 1773, and the Coercive (or “Intolerable”) Acts of 1774—had been largely instituted to pay off British war debts from the same conflict. So perniciously meticulous were the accountants in the British Exchequer that one of the Intolerable Acts’ demands was repayment for the 342 chests of tea tossed into Massachusetts Bay during the Boston Tea Party the previous December.
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BURNED FORGES

Three days after what came to be known as the Battle of Brandywine Creek, George Washington and his Continental Army were encamped near the settlement of Germantown, about six miles northwest of Philadelphia’s old town center. The hamlet, since incorporated into the city proper, was at the time a patchwork of dense hardwood forest broken by natural meadows and cleared fields of wheat, flax, and corn set amid neat rows of peach and cherry orchards. The lush plantations, founded by Quaker and Mennonite families almost a century earlier, were irrigated by scores of rocky, spring-fed brooks splashing down to the Schuylkill—Dutch for “Hidden River”—from the surrounding hills. Seventy-two hours of rest and recuperation in such a pleasant landscape had given the American troops a new wind.

As the Continental companies and regiments licked their wounds and re-formed, there was a palpable ripple of excitement. Washington’s brigadiers realized that the number of dead and wounded was far lower than they had feared. Even most of the army’s baggage, such as it was, remained secure, having been evacuated before the fight. The soldiers, particularly the officers, were in a combative mood; the yearning for retribution was amplified when news spread that the British, still camped along the Brandywine, were so desperate for medical assistance that they had begun forcibly conscripting Chester County’s civilian doctors. Several bellicose junior officers vowed to be the first to dance a victory minuet in Philadelphia after they’d had another go at Gen. Howe’s Redcoats. Their attitude was reflected by Alexander Hamilton, who informed the New York congressman Gouverneur Morris, “The militia seem pretty generally stirring, [and] our army is in high health and spirits.” Nathanael Greene went even further, boasting to his wife that “the next action would ruin Mr. Howe totally. We are gathered about him like a mighty cloud charg’d with destruction.”

As usual, Washington himself was more circumspect. He was gratified by the combination of courage and initiative his troops had exhibited while extricating themselves from the enemy’s flanking maneuver along the Brandywine. But he also recognized the great part that fortune had played in the escape, particularly in the long time it took Howe’s battalions to form a battle line after crossing the creek’s upstream branches. Overall, he could take solace from the fact that his soldiers, so many of them green recruits, had come face-to-face with the world’s foremost military machine and had not collapsed. This was something to build on. But that construction could begin only with an influx of troops. To that end, while his force girded for a rematch, he pressed Congress to supply him with more able bodies.

In Philadelphia, John Laurens’s father, Henry, proved a sturdy ally. In his capacity as an influential member of Congress, Henry Laurens dispatched riders to the commanding officers of the New Jersey and Maryland militias requesting immediate reinforcements for the Continental Army. He had also taken in the wounded Lafayette and would soon spirit him to the town of Bethlehem, Pennsylvania, where a sect of German-American Moravians had set up a field hospital.I The Frenchman, unaware that rumors of his death would soon to be rocking the court at Versailles, spent his days writing blithe missives to his wife, Adrienne, extolling the sights, the sounds, even the smells of battle. He also added the occasional aside recording his surgeons’ astonishment at his body’s rapid healing powers. It would be weeks until his letters reached Adrienne, informing her, and all of France, that he was alive.

♦  ♦  ♦

It was not lost on Washington that he trod a political fault line with his increasingly strident requests for more troops. From its inception, the Continental Congress had been wary of establishing a standing army of professional soldiers. Only 14 months earlier it had declared its independence from a despotic king whose arbitrary and unaccountable law enforcement policies had been carried out by a collection of “forced men” and mercenaries—“Swarms of Officers to harass our People, and eat out their Substance,” as the Declaration of Independence had it. The delegates feared that such a homegrown institution might one day become a similar instrument of tyranny. Instead they hoped to throw off the British yoke with citizen militias formed within the individual colonies and aided by several corps of federally funded if temporary “provincial regiments.”

The British occupation of Boston had altered this romantic notion considerably. On June 14, 1775, two months after Continental militiamen had forced the Redcoats to retreat from Lexington and Concord, the congressional delegates voted to place the Massachusetts militia under its authority and ordered the establishment of 10 additional regular-army rifle companies from Pennsylvania, Maryland, and Virginia. The following day it voted unanimously to offer command of this nascent Continental Army to Washington. This made eminent political sense. Virginia was the union’s wealthiest and most populous state, and the delegates determined that for the sake of political solidarity the common ruck should cohere around the laconic experimental tobacco farmer from Mount Vernon. Moreover, John Adams’s quip that Washington was selected because he was always the tallest man in the room hints at the physical majesty conveyed by the new commander in chief. Still, not all were thrilled.

In appointing Washington, Congress had chosen a man more familiar with Indian forest-fighting tactics than with leading and directing large bodies of troops. He had never commanded any unit larger than a regiment, and had only recently begun rather frantically purchasing books to teach himself the intricacies of cavalry maneuvers, artillery deployment, and military engineering. This was not lost on several New England officers who felt that their efforts at Lexington and Concord had been slighted. Nor did Washington’s inexperience pass unnoticed by two British-born American generals, Horatio Gates and Charles Lee, soon to be selected by Congress to serve under the new commander in chief. Both men were highly decorated veterans of previous Crown campaigns; both had settled in the colonies and volunteered to fight for the cause of independence; both would harbor simmering resentments throughout the revolution at having to understudy what they considered a tomahawk-wielding bumpkin from the cow paths of Virginia.

At the same time that Congress stood up a national American army it also stipulated that the force’s regulars would serve for just one year. Rather astonishingly, the delegates believed that the British would be driven from the former colonies within that period. By 1777, as reality set in, the subscription limit had been raised to three years, and eventually it would be extended “for the duration of the war.” Regiments accepted volunteers as young as 16 years of age, 15 with parental consent. An artillery “man” from New Jersey named Jeremiah Levering, who enlisted at 12, is cited by historians as probably the youngest soldier to volunteer. Yet the civil authorities to whom the commander in chief deferred still preferred to wage their revolution with state militias that, as one experienced American officer noted, “may as well stay at home, for not one fourth of them are of any use [and] three fourths of them run off at the first fire.” The respected French engineer Col. Duportail—soon to be charged with laying out and overseeing the construction at Valley Forge—was still more waspish in his appraisal. Even if an infusion of militiamen bloated Washington’s force to twice its current size, he wrote, “we would not double our strength by a great deal, we would triple our trouble.” Portraits of Duportail emphasize his symmetrical face graced by an aristocratic nose and hooded eyes that seem to sparkle ominously, as if expressing both amusement and threat. His views of the Continental Army captured both emotions.

In any case, Washington took personally these intra-army criticisms. At the same time, he understood and respected the unique responsibility Congress had granted him to lead a force of citizen-soldiers, with the emphasis on citizen. Sixteen years of service in Virginia’s House of Burgesses had ingrained in him a reflexive esteem for the fundamental proposition of civilian control over the military. He recognized that this principle was no mere nicety, but essential to the democratic rule for which he was fighting. The signers of the Declaration of Independence understood that they were in the process of creating a new kind of government, one designed to prevent precisely the system of martial decision-making advocated by strategic thinkers as ancient as Thucydides. Though the Athenian general was cognizant of war’s corrosive effect on a democracy, his observation that military conflicts are fought for either one or a combination of three reasons—fear, honor, and interest—certainly still held. But it was in the interest of Washington’s military strategy that no matter how meddling the delegates, civilians should always set policy. He was merely tasked to execute it. If they preferred militiamen to full-time soldiers, so be it.

As duly appointed commander in chief, however, he needed no political permission to realign his regulars. In his desperate attempts to swell his regiments he immediately dispatched officers to scour the temporary military hospitals scattered about western Pennsylvania for able-bodied convalescents. He also sent riders into Philadelphia with warnings that any household, inn, or tavern lodging wayward American regulars would be subject to forfeiture. Simultaneously, he ordered a brigade of 1,000 Continentals from the Hudson River Highlands to immediately march south from Poughkeepsie, New York. These soldiers, under the command of Gen. Israel Putnam, were acting as a buffer between the British troops who had remained in New York City and Gen. Burgoyne’s army storming down the Champlain Valley from Canada. Washington’s order incensed Gen. Putnam, who felt his defenses were already stretched too thin along the river. It was well understood by combatants on both sides that what was then called the “North River” was, in the words of Washington’s biographer Douglas Southall Freeman, “the jugular of America, the severance of which meant death” to the revolution. Washington ignored Putnam’s protests. He needed every musket-bearing man available for the return engagement with Gen. Howe.

Meanwhile, the high spirits among the troops at Germantown were far from being shared in Philadelphia. There, both the Continental Congress and the state legislators, taking a more realistic view of the events at Brandywine Creek, were already making preparations for the defense of the city in haste that bordered on panic. Militiamen were hurriedly formed into construction gangs to dig breastworks and haul cannons to the fords and ferry crossings along the Schuylkill River northwest of the city; the Liberty Bell was crated for passage to Allentown so it could not be melted down by the British for ammunition; and all of the city’s printing presses save one for emergency proclamations were disassembled and carted into the state’s interior.

Within days the presses were followed by the delegates from both houses who, sensing the futility of staving off a professional army with a collection of half-trained farmers and shopkeepers, voted to reconvene in the town of Lancaster some 80 miles to the west. While the state legislators remained in Lancaster, the national delegates of the Continental Congress were again soon on the move, relocating their operations to the small town of York another 30 miles distant. These signals were not lost on Philadelphia’s Whigs, who were soon enough piling their own belongings onto wagons, carts, and carriages in anticipation of the arrival of an occupying force.

While civilians’ anxieties were concentrated on the imminent arrival of Gen. Howe’s army, Washington fretted equally over the Royal Navy vessels lurking somewhere about the mouth of the Delaware. Philadelphia is a city virtually surrounded by water, with the Schuylkill to the west and the Delaware to the east forming natural barriers before their confluence south of the city. If Adm. “Black Dick” Howe’s fleet managed to break through the obstructions the Continentals had strung across the lower Delaware or, worse, to overrun the American riverbank forts, Washington suspected that instead of hosting dances for young American officers, the city’s taverns and bawdy houses would soon reverberate with the lyrics of British and German drinking songs.

♦  ♦  ♦

Back on Brandywine Creek, Gen. Howe continued to be stalled by a shortage of wagons to carry supplies and remove his wounded. Washington took advantage of the enemy’s standstill to withdraw across the Schuylkill and march back through Philadelphia to position his own force northwest of the city in eastern Chester County. There he would form a line of defense between the British and the capital. He also posted pickets on the roads that led to the Continental storehouses farther inland. While passing through Philadelphia his army was met by a decidedly muted reaction compared with that of a month earlier. This time green sprigs were in short supply, and many American officers noted the absence of fighting-age men among the thin, sullen crowds lining the lanes.

From here events played out rapidly. On the evening of September 14, Howe’s scouts informed him that they had located the Continental Army in Chester County. In hopes of swiftly finishing what he had started on the Brandywine, Howe had his troops marching the next morning—by pure coincidence the same day that Washington, having followed his lifelong farmer’s habit of rising at dawn, led his army out of its camp and recrossed the Schuylkill. The next afternoon advance parties from the two forces stumbled into each other quite by accident 26 miles west by northwest of Philadelphia. Neither of the commanders had planned on a major engagement quite so soon. As they frantically assembled their lines, providence intervened in the form of a ferocious northeaster, part of a tropical storm system that roiled the entire Mid-Atlantic region that day.

It began as a thick mist that hardened into a cold drizzle. Then the sky turned livid, awash with blinding neurons of white lightning as buckshot bursts of rain inundated the two armies. The downpour came in blinding sheets, so saturating each side’s cartridges and powder horns that what was later dubbed the Battle of the Clouds was in reality not much more than a sidewise skirmish. Desultory shots were fired from the opposing lines before both sides fell back through the bulking gloom, a retreat not entirely to Washington’s dissatisfaction. As the historian Ron Chernow notes in his masterly biography, “Despite his own hard-charging nature, Washington realized that, in view of the fragility of his army, it was sometimes better to miss a major opportunity than barge into a costly error.”

With the inevitable fight postponed, Gen. Howe pushed southeast toward Philadelphia with his troops, the Hessians in particular, plundering and burning as they marched. The Continentals plodded across swollen streams and through calf-deep mud before again fording the Schuylkill and moving northwest toward the small German Lutheran enclave of Yellow Springs to obtain dry powder. Washington left behind Gen. Wayne and close to 2,000 of his best Pennsylvania regulars as a rear guard. Wayne’s orders were to track the British troops’ movements and harass their baggage train. Wayne was also told to expect reinforcements from the nearly 2,000 Maryland militiamen under the command of Gen. William Smallwood racing north in answer to Henry Laurens’s appeal. The idea for one final and massive strike on the British before they reached Philadelphia was already forming in Washington’s mind.

♦  ♦  ♦

On September 18, two days after the aborted Battle of the Clouds, Gen. Howe paused to camp his force near the dozen or so fieldstone farmsteads and adjacent ironworks that constituted the hamlet of Valley Forge. Just over 20 miles northwest of Philadelphia in Tredyffrin Township, the small community occupied a strategic location at the confluence of Valley Creek and the Schuylkill River. The Americans used Valley Forge as a supply distribution center, and its warehouses were currently holding both foodstuffs and military arms—including some 3,000 bushels of wheat and 20,000 tomahawks. The British seized these stores after chasing off a small contingent of Continental dragoons led by Alexander Hamilton that had attempted to retrieve them. Then they fell on the civilian farms. It was the height of the harvest season, and scavenging parties systematically ravaged the area, confiscating crops and flour sacks by the wagonload and relieving the locals of almost all of their cows, pigs, and sheep—“flesh” or “hooves” in the contemporary vernacular. Howe had ordered his foragers to spare the stock and larders of any families known to be Loyalists. But in the swarm of war, hungry soldiers were not likely to be too thorough in their discrimination.

Before departing Valley Forge, the British burned its sawmill, blacksmith shop, waterwheels, cooperage, and workers’ housing. Most strategically, they also destroyed the complete ironworks—finery, chafery, bloomery, and slitting mill—that lent the valley its name. This was more than the usual callous depravity of combat. There was a method to Howe’s severity. He knew he was in patriot country. The historian Alan Taylor estimates that about 20 percent of all American colonists—500,000 people—remained loyal to the Crown during the American Revolution, while some 40 percent favored rebellion. The remaining 40 percent constituted a fluctuating middle who based their allegiance on their own safety and, in Taylor’s study, their “relationships with neighbors and kin.” In and around Valley Forge, however, revolutionary sentiments ran stronger, with about three quarters of the population in sympathy with separation from England. General Howe also understood that Pennsylvania was the leading iron manufacturer for the Continental Army.

Though there were forges scattered up and down the east coast of North America, most were located near mines that yielded an inferior form of the metal called bog iron. The iron deposits up the Schuylkill Valley and into the larger Lehigh Valley, however, were of a purer grade, with the added advantage that they were also nearer to the surface. The rolling hills surrounding Valley Forge were thick with hardwood—great groves of oak, maple, ash, walnut, and sycamore, and particularly dense stands of chestnut. Burning these trees provided ample fuel for the forges. This, combined with the waterwheels powered by the Schuylkill, allowed the local ironmongers to fire-forge a superior brand of pig iron. From the works at Valley Forge the giant blocks of “pig” were shipped inland to smiths who, employing 80-pound trip-hammers, would fire them again while great bellows injected oxygen into the metal to produce wrought iron, a low-grade steel. From this process emerged all manner of end products beneficial to Washington’s army, from wagon wheel hubs and nails to musket and cannon barrels. General Howe did not hesitate to disrupt this rebel manufacturing pipeline.

At the time the British were putting the torch to Valley Forge’s ironworks, farther west at York the relocated Continental Congress was attempting to fulfill Washington’s petition for more men and supplies. Washington was informed that in addition to the Marylanders, 2,000 Virginia militiamen had been rallied at Williamsburg awaiting his orders to march. He immediately sent for them. And after consulting with his fellow delegates, John Hancock went so far as to send the commander in chief copies of congressional resolutions granting him the authority to seize provisions from local populaces in exchange for promissory notes issued to farmers and merchants guaranteeing future repayment.
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